

Bounded harmonic maps

Yves Benoist, Dominique Hulin

▶ To cite this version:

Yves Benoist, Dominique Hulin. Bounded harmonic maps. 2023. hal-04047685v2

HAL Id: hal-04047685 https://hal.science/hal-04047685v2

Preprint submitted on 26 Aug 2023

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Bounded harmonic maps

Yves Benoist & Dominique Hulin

Abstract

The classical Fatou theorem identifies bounded harmonic functions on the unit disk with bounded measurable functions on the boundary circle. We extend this theorem to bounded harmonic maps.

 $^{2020\} Math.\ subject\ class.$ Primary 58E20 ; Secondary 53C43, 31C12 Key words Harmonic map, fine limit, Fatou theorem, subharmonic function, potential theory, spectral gap, non-positive curvature

Contents

1	Intr	roduction	3
	1.1	The Fatou theorem	3
	1.2	Main result	4
	1.3	Main definitions	4
	1.4	Previous results	6
	1.5	Strategy of proof	7
	1.6	Overview	6
2	Har	emonic and subharmonic functions 1	0
	2.1	The Harnack inequality and the Green function	C
	2.2	The Ancona Inequality	1
	2.3	The Poisson kernel	3
	2.4	The harmonic measures	6
	2.5	Non-tangential limits	1
3	$Th\epsilon$	boundary transform 2	2
	3.1	Harmonic maps and subharmonic functions	2
	3.2	Construction of the boundary map	3
	3.3	Injectivity of the boundary transform	:4
4	The	Poisson transform 2	4
	4.1	Density of the Lipschitz maps	4
	4.2	The continuous Dirichlet problem	
	4.3	Construction of the Poisson transform	
5	The	boundary and the Poisson transform 2	9
	5.1	The Lebesgue density theorem	e
	5.2	Limit of subharmonic functions	
	5.3	Surjectivity of the boundary transform	
	5.4	A concrete example	
	5.5		

1 Introduction

The aim of this paper is to present an extension to harmonic maps of a classical theorem for harmonic functions due to Fatou around 1905-1910.

1.1 The Fatou theorem

We first recall the classical theorem of Fatou for bounded harmonic functions on the Euclidean disk.

This theorem deals with the unit open ball B and with the unit sphere $S = \partial B$ in the Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^k with k = 2 or, more generally, with $k \geq 2$. It identifies the space $\mathcal{H}_b(B,\mathbb{R})$ of bounded harmonic functions $h: B \to \mathbb{R}$ on the ball with the space $L^{\infty}(\partial B,\mathbb{R})$ of bounded measurable functions on the boundary ∂B . We recall that a harmonic function on B is a C^2 -function h that satisfies $\Delta_0 h = 0$, where Δ_0 is the Euclidean Laplacian. We denote by σ_0 the rotationally invariant probability measure on the sphere ∂B , and we refer to Section 1.3 for the definition of a non-tangential limit.

Fact 1.1. (Fatou) a) Let $h: B \to \mathbb{R}$ be a bounded harmonic function. For σ_0 -almost all ξ in ∂B , the function h admits a non-tangential limit $\varphi(\xi) := \underset{x \to \xi}{\text{NTlim}} h(x)$ at the point ξ .

b) The map $h \mapsto \varphi$ is a bijection $\beta : \mathcal{H}_b(B, \mathbb{R}) \to L^{\infty}(\partial B, \mathbb{R})$ called the boundary transform.

The inverse of the map β is given by an explicit formula, the Poisson formula. For every $\varphi \in L^{\infty}(\partial B, \mathbb{R})$, one can indeed recover h as $h = P_0 \varphi$ where $P_0 \varphi$ is the bounded harmonic function defined on B by

$$P_0\varphi(x) := \int_{\partial B} \varphi(\xi) P_{0,\xi}(x) d\sigma_0(\xi), \text{ where } P_{0,\xi}(x) = \frac{1 - |x|^2}{|x - \xi|^k}$$

is the Poisson kernel.

The proof of this fact can be found in Rudin's book [33, Chap. 11] or in [26] when k = 2, or in Armitage and Gardiner's book [5, Chap. 4] for $k \ge 2$.

Proving extensions of this fact has a long history that has already lasted for more than a century. Indeed, an important goal of Potential Theory is to understand to what extent this fact still holds for either harmonic or superharmonic functions, on more general spaces.

The aim of this paper is to extend Fatou's theorem to bounded harmonic maps. We will allow the target space Y to be any complete CAT(0) space, the first examples to have in mind being the hyperbolic spaces \mathbb{H}^k .

We will also allow more general source spaces. Since, in dimension k=2, the harmonicity condition depends only on the conformal structure on the source space B, we can think of B as the hyperbolic plane. We will explain in Theorem 1.3 how to replace B by a **GGG** Riemannian manifold X. Later on, we will also explain in Corollary 5.6 how to replace B by any bounded Riemannian domain Ω with Lipschitz boundary.

1.2 Main result

We now state our main result, postponing the definitions to Section 1.3.

Definition 1.2. We will say that a Riemannian manifold X is \mathbf{GGG} as a shortcut for Gromov Hyperbolic with Bounded Geometry and Spectral \mathbf{Gap} .

Theorem 1.3. Let X be a **GGG** Riemannian manifold, and Y be a proper CAT(0)-space.

- a) Let $h: X \to Y$ be a bounded harmonic map. Then, for σ -almost all $\xi \in \partial X$, the map h admits a non-tangential limit $\varphi(\xi) := \text{NTlim } h(x)$ at the point ξ .
- b) The map $h \mapsto \varphi$ is a bijection $\beta : \mathcal{H}_b(X,Y) \to L^{\infty}(\partial X,Y)$.

The main examples of \mathbf{GGG} Riemannian manifolds X are the pinched Hadamard manifolds: those have negative curvature. The condition \mathbf{GGG} allows a little bit of positive curvature on X. It also allows X to be non-contractible. For instance, the quotient of a pinched Hadamard manifold by a convex cocompact group of isometries is \mathbf{GGG} .

1.3 Main definitions

Here are the definitions that are needed to understand our theorem 1.3. All our manifolds will be assumed to be connected and with dimension $k \geq 2$.

Definition 1.4. A Riemannian manifold X has bounded geometry if it is complete, with bounded sectional curvature $-K_{max} \leq K_X \leq K_{max}$, and if the injectivity radius has a uniform lower bound inj $_X \geq r_{min} > 0$.

As explained in [24, Section 1.1], one could replace in Definition 1.4 the bound on the sectional curvature by a bound on the Ricci curvature. Indeed, the important features of bounded geometry also hold if we just have a bound on the Ricci curvature.

Definition 1.5. The Riemannian manifold X is Gromov hyperbolic if there exists $\delta > 0$ such that, for all o, x, y, z in X one has

$$(x|z)_o \ge \min((x|y)_o, (y|z)_o) - \delta. \tag{1.1}$$

Here $(x|y)_o := \frac{1}{2}(d(o,x) + d(o,y) - d(x,y))$ is the Gromov product of the points x and y seen from o.

In this case ∂X will denote the "Gromov boundary" of X and $\overline{X} = X \cup \partial X$ will be the "Gromov compactification" of X where ∂X is the set of geodesic rays on X, two geodesic rays being identified if they remain within bounded distance from each other. See [17].

Definition 1.6. A Riemannian manifold X has a spectral gap, or a coercive Laplacian, if the Rayleigh quotients admit a uniform lower bound

$$\lambda_1 := \inf_{\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(X)} \frac{\int_X \|\nabla \varphi\|^2 \, \mathrm{d}v_g}{\int_X \varphi^2 \, \mathrm{d}v_g} > 0.$$
 (1.2)

Note that the spectral gap implies that X is non-compact.

Definition 1.7. A pinched Hadamard manifold X is a complete simply-connected Riemannian manifold with dimension at least 2 whose sectional curvature is pinched between two negative constants: $-b^2 \le K_X \le -a^2 < 0$.

Examples are : hyperbolic spaces \mathbb{H}^k , rank one non-compact Riemannian symmetric spaces, any small perturbation of those...

Definition 1.8. A CAT(0) space Y is a geodesic metric space such that, for every geodesic triangle T in Y, there exists a 1-Lipschitz map $j: T_0 \to T$ where T_0 is the triangle the Euclidean plane with same side lengths as T and j sends each vertex of T_0 to the corresponding vertex of T. See [11].

Examples are: Hadamard manifolds (namely, complete and simply connected Riemannian manifolds with non positive curvature), Euclidean buildings, \mathbb{R} -trees, convex subsets in Hilbert spaces...

It is not restrictive to assume that Y is complete, since the metric completion of a CAT(0) space still is a CAT(0) space. Since the closed balls $B(y_0, R)$ in Y are also CAT(0) spaces, this will allow us to assume in the proof of Theorem 1.3 that Y is bounded. We will sometimes assume that Y is proper, i.e. that these closed balls $B(y_0, R)$ are compact.

Definition 1.9. A map $h: X \to Y$ is (energy minimizing) harmonic if it is locally Lipschitz continuous and if it is a minimum for the Korevaar-Schoen energy E(h) with respect to variations of h with compact support $Z \subset X$.

When Y is a CAT(0) Riemannian manifold, the Korevaar-Schoen energy on Z coincides with the Dirichlet energy $E(h) = \int_Z |Dh(x)|^2 dv_g(x)$. In this case, the harmonicity condition can be expressed by a partial differential equation which is not linear any more, see [16], [20] or [22]. When Y is only a CAT(0) space, the energy of h on Z is the integral $E(h) = \int_Z e_h(x) dv_g(x)$ of the energy density e_h where, for a Lipschitz continuous map h, the energy density is given by $e_h(x) = \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \varepsilon^{-2-k} v_k^{-1} \int_{B(x,\varepsilon)} d(h(x), h(x'))^2 dv_g(x')$, where v_k is the volume of the unit Euclidean ball and where this limit should be understood in a weak sense. See [27, Section 1.5] for a precise definition. See also [23].

The measure σ refers to any finite Borel measure on ∂X which is equivalent to the harmonic measures on ∂X . The " σ -almost surely" means that the property holds except on a set of measure zero for the measure σ on ∂X . Note that, when X is a pinched Hadamard manifold, such a measure σ is often found to be singular with respect to the Lebesgue measure on the sphere ∂X .

The set $\mathcal{H}_b(X,Y)$ is the set of bounded harmonic maps $h: X \to Y$, and the set $L^{\infty}(\partial X,Y)$ is the set of bounded measurable maps from ∂X to Y where two measurable maps are identified if they are σ -almost surely equal.

Definition 1.10. A function $h: X \to Y$ has a non-tangential limit y at a point $\xi \in \partial X$ (also called a conical limit), and we write $y = \mathop{\rm NTlim}_{x \to \xi} h(x)$, if $y = \lim_{n \to \infty} h(x_n)$ holds for any sequence (x_n) in X converging non-tangentially to ξ , i.e. such that $\sup_{n \ge 1} d(x_n, o\xi) < \infty$ where $o\xi$ is any geodesic ray from a point $o \in X$ to ξ .

1.4 Previous results

When $Y = \mathbb{R}$, we are dealing with harmonic functions. As we have already seen in Section 1.1, Theorem 1.3 for X = B is the classical Fatou theorem. The extension to the case where X is a pinched Hadamard manifold appeared in the 80's and is due to Anderson and Schoen in [4]. The extension to the case where X is a **GGG** Riemannian manifold is due to Ancona in [3].

When Y is a CAT(0) Riemannian manifold and X is a pinched Hadamard manifold, Theorem 1.3.a is due to Aviles, Choi, Micallef in [6, Thm 5.1], and Theorem 1.3.b is conjectured to be true by these authors. Indeed, as a final observation in [6, Section 1] they write that such a theorem would be "a consequence of the solvability of the Dirichlet problem with L^{∞} boundary

condition". This solvability is one of the main technical issues in our paper (Proposition 1.18). Note that the solvability of the Dirichlet problem with continuous boundary condition is proven in [6, Thm 3.2]. The first case of Theorem 1.3.b that seems to be new is when both X and Y are the hyperbolic plane \mathbb{H}^2 .

When Y is a CAT(0) space, the proof of Theorem 1.3 will rely on the solution of the Dirichlet problem for harmonic maps with values in a CAT(0) space under Lipschitz continuous boundary condition, due to Korevaar and Schoen in [27], a result that extends the Hamilton theorem in [20].

Remark 1.11. Note that we cannot assume Y to be only locally CAT(0). The fact that Y is simply connected will be important here. Indeed, it is not clear how to parametrize the set of harmonic maps from the unit disk to a compact hyperbolic surface. Similarly, it is not clear how to parametrize the set of all harmonic maps from the unit disk to the circle \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z} , because this is equivalent to parametrizing all the harmonic functions on the unit disk.

Remark 1.12. Theorem 1.3 is an analog of the theorems that parametrize unbounded harmonic maps between pinched Hadamard manifolds by their "quasi-symmetric" boundary condition at infinity. See the successive papers [31], [29], [8], [9], and [34]. that deal with an increasing level of generality.

1.5 Strategy of proof

We will split the statement of Theorem 1.3 into five propositions.

Proposition 1.13. (Construction of the boundary map) Let X be a GGG Riemannian manifold and let Y be a proper CAT(0)-space. Let $h: X \to Y$ be a bounded harmonic map. Then, for σ -almost all $\xi \in \partial X$, the map h admits a non-tangential limit $\varphi(\xi) := \text{NTlim } h(x)$ at the point ξ .

We denote by

$$\beta h := \varphi \in L^{\infty}(\partial X, Y) \tag{1.3}$$

the bounded measurable map from ∂X to Y given by Proposition 1.13. This map βh is called the boundary map of h, and the map

$$\beta: \mathcal{H}_b(X,Y) \to L^{\infty}(\partial X,Y)$$

is called the boundary transform.

Proposition 1.14. (Injectivity of the boundary transform) Same notation. Two harmonic maps h, h' from X to Y with $\beta h = \beta h'$ are equal.

In order to prove that the transformation β is onto, we will construct its inverse map P. We first rely on the theorem that solves the Dirichlet problem for harmonic maps with regular boundary data. It is due to Hamilton in [20] when the target is a manifold, and to Korevaar-Schoen in [27, Thm 2.2] when the target is a CAT(0) space.

Fact 1.15. (Hamilton, Korevaar and Schoen)

Let Ω be a bounded Lipschitz Riemannian domain and Y be a complete CAT(0) space. Let $\varphi : \partial \Omega \to Y$ be a Lipschitz map. Then, there exists a unique harmonic map $h = P\varphi$ from Ω to Y that extends continuously φ .

We then need to extend Fact 1.15 to continuous boundary data, and to deal with a boundary at infinity. This is included in the following proposition wich will be proven in Section 4.2. Note that when X is a pinched Hadamard manifold and Y is a CAT(0) Riemannian manifold, this proposition is already in [6, Thm 3.2 and 4.7].

Proposition 1.16. (Dirichlet problem with continuous data) Let X be a GGG Riemannian manifold and Y be a complete CAT(0)-space. Let $\varphi: \partial X \to Y$ be a continuous map. Then, there exists a unique harmonic map $h = P\varphi$ from X to Y that extends continuously φ .

The conclusion in Proposition 1.16 means that the map $\overline{h}: \overline{X} \to Y$ that is equal to h on X and to φ on ∂X is continuous. Idem for Fact 1.15.

The main result in this article, Theorem 1.3, extends Proposition 1.16 to more general boundary conditions φ . Indeed, it allows φ to be any bounded measurable map from ∂X to Y. As will be very clear in the next proposition, the proof of our main Theorem 1.3 relies on the Hamilton, Korevaar, Schoen theorem.

We endow the space $L^{\infty}(\partial X, Y)$ with "the topology of the convergence in probability", see (4.1). The subspace $C(\partial X, Y)$ of continuous maps is then dense in $L^{\infty}(\partial X, Y)$, see Lemma 4.2.

We also endow the space $\mathcal{H}_b(X,Y)$ of bounded harmonic maps $h:X\to Y$ with the topology of the uniform convergence on compact subsets of X.

Proposition 1.17. (Construction of the Poisson transform) Let X be a GGG Riemannian manifold and Y be a bounded complete CAT(0)-space. The map

$$P: C(\partial X, Y) \to \mathcal{H}_b(X, Y)$$

given by Proposition 1.16 has a unique continuous extension

$$P: L^{\infty}(\partial X, Y) \to \mathcal{H}_b(X, Y).$$

We still call the extended map P the Poisson transform.

Proposition 1.18. (Surjectivity of the boundary transform) Let X be a GGG Riemannian manifold and Y be a compact CAT(0)-space. For all $\varphi \in L^{\infty}(\partial X, Y)$, one has $\varphi = \beta P \varphi$.

1.6 Overview

In Chapter 2, we recall preliminary facts about harmonic, subharmonic and superharmonic functions u on a \mathbf{GGG} Riemannian manifold. The key points that we will use are a control on the Poisson kernel in Proposition 2.8, upper bounds on the harmonic measures in Lemmas 2.15 and 2.17, and the existence of non-tangential limit for bounded Lipschitz superharmonic functions on X in Proposition 2.18.

In Chapter 3, we recall two facts about harmonic maps. The first one is the control, due to Cheng, of the Lipschitz constant of a harmonic map (Lemma 3.1). The second one is the subharmonicity of the distance function between two harmonic maps (Lemma 3.2). We use these two facts, together with Proposition 2.18, to prove the existence of non-tangential limit for our bounded harmonic map $h: X \to Y$ (Proposition 1.13). This provides the construction of the boundary map $\varphi = \beta h: \partial X \to Y$. These arguments also prove that the boundary transform $\beta: h \mapsto \varphi$ is injective (Proposition 1.14).

In Chapter 4, we first construct the Poisson transform $P:\varphi\mapsto h$ when the boundary data φ is continuous (Proposition 1.16) by building on the Hamilton, Korevaar and Schoen theorem (Fact 1.15). We then extend this transform $P:\varphi\mapsto h$ to bounded measurable boundary data φ (Proposition 1.17). The key point is a suitable uniform continuity property of this transform $\varphi\mapsto h$.

In Chapter 5 we prove that the Poisson transform P is a right inverse for the boundary transform β , so that the boundary transform β is surjective (Proposition 1.18). The key point is an estimate on sequences of subharmonic functions (Lemma 5.3) that relies on the control of the Poisson kernel P_{ξ} in Proposition 2.8 and on the Lebesgue density theorem for a doubling measure on a compact quasi-metric space (Fact 5.2).

We would like to thank F. Jäckel for useful comments on a first version of this preprint.

2 Harmonic and subharmonic functions

In this second chapter, we gather a few results concerning harmonic and subharmonic functions on a \mathbf{GGG} Riemannian manifold X that will be used in the proof of Theorem 1.3.

We set g for the Riemannian metric, d for the Riemannian distance, Δ for the Laplace Beltrami operator and $k = \dim X$. For the Potential theory of a **GGG** Riemannian manifold, we refer to the seminal paper [3] and to its recent update [24].

2.1 The Harnack inequality and the Green function

In this section we present three classical Harnack inequalities for positive harmonic functions.

We recall that a function $u: X \to \mathbb{R}$ is superharmonic if it is lower semicontinuous, locally integrable, and if $\Delta u \leq 0$ holds in the weak sense. A function u is subharmonic if -u is superharmonic. A function u is harmonic if it is both subharmonic and superharmonic

The Harnack inequality, which has been improved by Serrin and by S.T. Yau, gives a uniform control for positive harmonic functions on compact sets. See [30, Lemma 2.1] for a short proof, and also [19, Cor. 8.21].

Fact 2.1. (Harnack inequality) Let X be a complete Riemannian manifold with bounded sectional curvature. There exists a constant $c_0 > 0$ such that, for any positive harmonic function u on a ball $B(x_0, r)$ with $r \leq 1$, one has

$$\|\nabla \log u(x)\| \le c_0/r$$
 for all x in $B(x_0, r/2)$.

One then has

$$u(y) < e^{c_0}u(x)$$
 for all x, y in $B(x_0, r/2)$.

The Green operator G is the "inverse" of the Laplacian. The spectral gap assumption ensures that the Green operator is bounded as an operator on $L^2(X)$. The Green kernel G(x,y) is the kernel of the Green operator. It is is symmetric i.e. G(x,y) = G(y,x). It is a positive C^{∞} -function on $X \times X \setminus \Delta_X$ and, for each x in X, the function $G_x := G(x,.)$ satisfies $\Delta G_x = -\delta_x$. In particular the function G_x is harmonic outside $\{x\}$.

The bounded geometry assumption ensures the following control on the Green function. We set $\log_*(t) := \max(1, \log t)$.

Fact 2.2. (Green function) Let X be a Riemannian manifold with bounded geometry and with spectral gap. There exist $C_0 > 1$ and $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ such that : a) For x, y in X with $d(x, y) \leq 1$, one has

$$C_0^{-1}d(x,y)^{2-k} \le G(x,y) \le C_0 d(x,y)^{2-k}$$
 if $k \ne 2$,
 $C_0^{-1}\log_*(1/d(x,y)) \le G(x,y) \le C_0 \log_*(1/d(x,y))$ if $k = 2$.

b) For x, y in X with $d(x, y) \ge 1$, one has

$$G(x,y) \leq C_0 e^{-\varepsilon_0 d(x,y)} \tag{2.1}$$

See for instance [24, Prop. 2.7 and 2.12].

2.2 The Ancona Inequality

The Gromov hyperbolicity assumption ensures a much more precise control on the Green function due to Ancona.

Fact 2.3. (Ancona Inequality) Let X be a GGG Riemannian manifold. Then, there exists $C_1 > 1$ such that for any point y on a geodesic segment [x, z] in X such that $d(x, y) \ge 1$ and $d(y, z) \ge 1$ one has

$$C_1^{-1} G(x, y) G(y, z) \le G(x, z) \le C_1 G(x, y) G(y, z)$$
 (2.2)

The boundary Harnack inequality compares the behavior of two positive harmonic functions near a piece of the boundary ∂X where they both go to zero. In order to state this inequality we need to introduce some notation.

We first recall the definition of the Gromov product for two points η_1 , η_2 in $\overline{X} = X \cup \partial X$ seen from a point $o \in X$:

$$(\eta_1|\eta_2)_o := \limsup_{\substack{x_1 \to \eta_1 \\ x_2 \to y_2}} (x_1|x_2)_o.$$

This quantity is equal, up to a uniformly bounded error term, to the distance between o and a geodesic going from η_1 to η_2 .

For x in \overline{X} , we introduce the sets

$$\mathcal{H}_o^t(x) = \{ y \in X \mid (y|x)_o \ge t \},\$$

$$\overline{\mathcal{H}}_o^t(x) = \{ y \in \overline{X} \mid (y|x)_o \ge t \}.$$

Note that these sets are empty when d(o, x) < t.

We recall that the topology of \overline{X} is the topology that extends the topology of X and such that a neighborhood basis of a point $\xi \in \partial X$ is given by the sets $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_o^t(\xi)$ with t > 0. See [17]. We will call them (rough) half-spaces.

We also recall that, since X is Gromov hyperbolic, we can choose $\delta > 1$ satisfying (1.1) and such that, for every geodesic triangle x, y, z in X, every point u on the edge xz is at distance at most δ of the union $xy \cup yz$ of the other edges.

We record a five properties of these half-spaces:

$$\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{x}^{s}(y) \cup \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{y}^{t}(x) = \overline{X} \text{ for all } x, y \text{ in } X \text{ with } d(x,y) \ge s + t,$$
 (2.3)

$$\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{x}^{s}(y) \cap \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{y}^{t}(x) = \emptyset \text{ for all } x, y \text{ in } X \text{ with } d(x, y) < s + t.$$
 (2.4)

$$\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{x}^{t}(y) \subset \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{x}^{t-\delta}(z) \text{ for all } x \text{ in } X, y, z \text{ in } \overline{X} \text{ with } z \in \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{x}^{t}(y),$$
 (2.5)

$$\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{x}^{t+s}(y) \subset \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{m}^{t}(y)$$
 for all m, x, y in X with $d(x, m) = s$, (2.6)

$$\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{m}^{t}(y) \subset \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{x}^{t+s-\delta}(y)$$
 for m in xy with $d(x,m) = s$ and $t > \delta$. (2.7)

These properties explain why these sets are called half-spaces.

The first four ones are straightforward. For the last one, notice that, since $t > \delta$, for any z in $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_m^t(y)$, the distance between m and a geodesic yz is larger than δ and hence there exists a point m' on a geodesic xz such that $d(m, m') \leq \delta$.

We now state the strong boundary Harnack inequality for a \mathbf{GGG} Riemannian manifold X. This inequality is actually equivalent to the Ancona Inequality in Fact 2.3.

Fact 2.4. (Strong Boundary Harnack inequality) Let X be a GGG Riemannian manifold. There exists $C_2 > 0$ and $t_0 > 0$ such that for all $o \in X$, all $\xi \in \partial X$, all $t \geq 0$ and all positive continuous functions u, v on the half-space $\overline{\mathcal{H}} := \overline{\mathcal{H}}_o^t(\xi)$ which are zero on $\partial X \cap \overline{\mathcal{H}}$ and harmonic in the interior of $X \cap \overline{\mathcal{H}}$, one has

$$\frac{u(y)}{v(y)} \le C_2 \frac{u(x)}{v(x)} \quad \text{for all} \quad x, y \in \mathcal{H}_o^{t+t_0}(\xi). \tag{2.8}$$

Remark 2.5. Fact 2.4 is due to Anderson and Schoen in [4, Corollary 5.2] when X is a pinched Hadamard manifold. It is due to Ancona in [3] when X is a **GGG** Riemannian manifold.

The following statement is a Corollary of Facts 2.1 and 2.4.

Corollary 2.6. (Boundary Harnack inequality) Let X be a GGG Riemannian manifold. Let $O \subset \overline{X}$ be a connected open subset and $K \subset O$ be a compact subset. There exists a constant $C = C_{K,O,X} > 0$ such that for all

continuous functions u, v on O that are harmonic and positive on $O \cap X$ and zero on $O \cap \partial X$, one has

$$\frac{u(y)}{v(y)} \le C \frac{u(x)}{v(x)} \quad \text{for all} \quad x, y \in K \cap X.$$
 (2.9)

Note that Fact 2.4 is stronger than Corollary 2.6 since it requires the constant C_2 not to depend on the half-space $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$.

2.3 The Poisson kernel

We now recall the definition of the Poisson kernel, also called the Martin kernel.

The following fact is due to Anderson and Schoen in [4] for a pinched Hadamard manifold, and has been generalized by Ancona in [3] for a **GGG** Riemannian manifold X. See also [24] for more general measured metric spaces. It describes all the positive harmonic functions on X and, more precisely, it describes the Martin boundary of X. The key point in the proof is the strong boundary Harnack inequality of Fact 2.4.

Fact 2.7. (Martin Boundary) Let X be a GGG Riemannian manifold, and fix a point $o \in X$.

a) For all ξ in ∂X , there exists a unique non-negative continuous function

$$x \mapsto P_{\xi}(x) = P_{\xi}(o, x)$$

on $\overline{X} \setminus \{\xi\}$ which is harmonic on X, zero on $\partial X \setminus \{\xi\}$ with $P_{\xi}(o) = 1$. b) For $x \in X$ and $\xi \in \partial X$, $P_{\xi}(x)$ is obtained as the limit

$$P_{\xi}(x) = \lim_{y \to \xi} \frac{G(x, y)}{G(o, y)}.$$
 (2.10)

c) Any positive harmonic function h on X can be written as

$$h(x) = \int_{\partial X} P_{\xi}(x) \, \mathrm{d}\mu(\xi)$$

for a unique positive finite Borel measure $\mu = \mu_h$ on ∂X .

d) The function $(x, \xi) \mapsto P_{\xi}(x)$ is continuous on $\overline{X} \times \partial X \setminus \Delta_{\partial X}$ where $\Delta_{\partial X}$ denotes the diagonal in $\partial X \times \partial X$.

By the very definition of the Poisson functions, the following holds:

$$P_{\xi}(x, o) = P_{\xi}(o, x)^{-1}.$$

Those functions P_{ξ} are exactly the positive harmonic functions on X that are minimal, up to normalization: i.e. the only positive harmonic functions h on X that are bounded by P_{ξ} are the multiples $h = \alpha P_{\xi}$ with $\alpha \leq 1$.

In the proof of Proposition 1.18, we will need the following estimate for the Poisson functions.

Proposition 2.8. Let X be a **GGG** Riemannian manifold. Then, there exists a constant $C_3 > 0$ such that for all o in X, all ξ in ∂X , all x on a geodesic ray $o\xi$, and for all η_1 , η_2 in ∂X with

$$|(\xi|\eta_1)_o - (\xi|\eta_2)_o| \le 1, \tag{2.11}$$

one has

$$C_3^{-1} \le \frac{P_{\eta_1}(x)}{P_{\eta_2}(x)} \le C_3.$$
 (2.12)

We begin by a lemma that extends Ancona's inequality to Poisson functions. Since X is Gromov hyperbolic, for every geodesic triangle with distinct vertices x, y, z in \overline{X} , there exists a point m whose distance to any of the three geodesic sides is at most δ . Such a point m is called a center of the triangle x, y, z. It is not unique, but the distance between two centers is at most $\delta\delta$. See [17].

Lemma 2.9. Let X be a **GGG** Riemannian manifold. Then, there exists a constant $C_4 > 1$ such that for all ξ in ∂X , all points o, x in X one has

$$C_4^{-1} \frac{G(m,x)}{G(m,o)} \le P_{\xi}(o,x) \le C_4 \frac{G(m,x)}{G(m,o)},$$
 (2.13)

where m is a center of a geodesic triangle with vertices o, x, ξ such that $d(o, m) \ge 1$ and $d(x, m) \ge 1$.

Note that it is possible to choose such a center m since X is Gromov hyperbolic with constant $\delta > 1$.

A particular instance of (2.13), when x is on a geodesic ray from o to ξ and $d(o, x) \ge 1$, reads as

$$C_4^{-1}G(o,x)^{-1} \le P_{\xi}(o,x) \le C_4 G(o,x)^{-1}.$$
 (2.14)

Proof. The center m is at a distance at most δ from both a geodesic ray $o\xi$ and a geodesic ray $x\xi$. Therefore when a point $y \in X$ is sufficiently near ξ , the point m is at distance at most 2δ from both the geodesic rays oy and xy. Therefore, using the Harnack inequality in Fact 2.1 and the Ancona inequality in Fact 2.3 one gets, with a constant c_4 depending only on X:

$$c_4^{-1}G(x,m)G(m,y) \le G(x,y) \le c_4G(x,m)G(m,y),$$

 $c_4^{-1}G(o,m)G(m,y) \le G(o,y) \le c_4G(o,m)G(m,y).$

Taking the ratio of these estimates yields, with $C_4 = c_4^2$,

$$C_4^{-1} \frac{G(x,m)}{G(o,m)} \le \frac{G(x,y)}{G(o,y)} \le C_4 \frac{G(x,m)}{G(o,m)}.$$

One then gets (2.13) by letting y converge to ξ .

Proof of Proposition 2.8. Let m_1 be a center of the triangle o, x, η_1 and m_2 be a center of the triangle o, x, η_2 . Those points can be chosen so that $d(m_i, o) \geq 1$ and $d(m_i, x) \geq 1$. The assumption (2.11) tells us that the distance $d(m_1, m_2)$ is bounded by a constant depending only on δ . Therefore by the Harnack principle in Fact 2.1, there exists a constant $c_3 > 1$ depending only on X such that

$$c_3^{-1} \le \frac{G(x, m_2)}{G(x, m_1)} \le c_3 \text{ and } c_3^{-1} \le \frac{G(o, m_2)}{G(o, m_1)} \le c_3$$
 (2.15)

Taking the ratio of the bound (2.13) with $\xi = \eta_1$ by the bound (2.13) with $\xi = \eta_2$ one gets

$$C_4^{-2} \frac{G(x, m_1)}{G(x, m_2)} \frac{G(o, m_2)}{G(o, m_1)} \le \frac{P_{\eta_1}(x)}{P_{\eta_2}(x)} \le C_4^2 \frac{G(x, m_1)}{G(x, m_2)} \frac{G(o, m_2)}{G(o, m_1)}. \tag{2.16}$$

Combining (2.15) with (2.16), one obtains (2.12) with $C_3 = c_3^2 C_4^2$.

Corollary 2.10. Let X be a GGG Riemannian manifold. Then, there exists a constant $C_4 > 1$ such that for all ξ in ∂X , all points x in X and all point y on a ray $x\xi$ with $d(x,y) \geq 1$, one has

$$C_4^{-1} G(x, y) P_{\xi}(y) \le P_{\xi}(x) \le C_4 G(x, y) P_{\xi}(y).$$
 (2.17)

Proof. Since, by definition $P_{\xi}(x,y) = P_{\xi}(y)/P_{\xi}(x)$, inequalities (2.17) are nothing but a reformulation of (2.14).

See also [4, Cor. 6.4] and [28] for other estimates on the Poisson kernel when X is a pinched Hadamard manifold.

We recall that, in Geometric Group Theory, the word "geodesic" means "minimizing geodesic". This is why the following lemma is non-trivial.

Lemma 2.11. Let X be a **GGG** Riemannian manifold. Then there exists $C_5 > 1$ such that, for all x in X, there exists ξ , η in ∂X with $(\xi | \eta)_x \leq C_5$.

We do not explicitly use this lemma. It illustrates the influence of the spectral gap condition on the geometry of X. It tells us there are no dead ends in X. Here is a sketch of proof.

Proof. Since X is Gromov hyperbolic, if there were dead ends, we would be able to find, for all $n \geq 1$, a ball $B_n := B(x_n, n)$ of radius n in X whose boundary $S_n := S(x_n, n)$ has diameter at most 2δ . Since X has bounded geometry, the volumes of the balls B_n go to infinity while the diameters of S_n are bounded. This contradicts the spectral gap.

2.4 The harmonic measures

2.4.1 Harmonic measures for a bounded domain

We first recall the solution of the Dirichlet problem for harmonic functions on a Lipschitz bounded Riemannian domain Ω (see Section 5.5 for a precise definition). This can be found in [19, Chapter 6 and 8] when $\partial\Omega$ is smooth and in [2] when $\partial\Omega$ is Lipschitz continuous. It says:

Fact 2.12. (Dirichlet problem for functions on a bounded domain) Let Ω be a Lipschitz bounded Riemannian domain. For every continuous function $\varphi \in C(\partial\Omega, \mathbb{R})$, there exists a unique continuous function $h: \overline{\Omega} \to \mathbb{R}$ which is harmonic on Ω and equal to φ on $\partial\Omega$.

Moreover, for $x \in \Omega$ there exists a measure $\sigma_x = \sigma_x^{\Omega}$ on $\partial \Omega$, called the harmonic measure on $\partial \Omega$ seen from x, such that the harmonic extension h of φ is given by

$$h(x) := \int_{\partial\Omega} \varphi(\xi) \, d\sigma_x(\xi). \tag{2.18}$$

By a theorem of Dahlberg in [14], the harmonic measure σ_x^{Ω} at each point $x \in \Omega$ is equivalent to the Riemannian measure on $\partial \Omega$.

The measure σ_x^{Ω} is a doubling measure on $\partial\Omega$. This means, see [12, Section 11.3], that there exists a constant $c = c_{\Omega,x}$ such that for all r > 0 and all ξ in $\partial\Omega$ one has

$$\sigma_x^{\Omega}(B(\xi, 2r)) \le c \,\sigma_x^{\Omega}(B(\xi, r)). \tag{2.19}$$

In this notation, we think of σ_x^{Ω} as a measure on X supported by $\partial\Omega$.

Remark 2.13. From a probabilistic point of view, the harmonic measure σ_x^{Ω} on $\partial\Omega$ is the exit probability measure of a Brownian motion on Ω starting at point x.

2.4.2 Harmonic measures on GGG Riemannian manifolds

We now recall the solution of the Dirichlet problem for harmonic functions on a \mathbf{GGG} Riemannian manifold X. This is independently due to Anderson and Sullivan when X is a pinched Hadamard manifold. See [4] for a nice account. It is due to Ancona when X is a \mathbf{GGG} Riemannian manifold, as a consequence of the description of the Martin boundary of X.

Fact 2.14. (Dirichlet problem for functions on GGG manifolds)

Let X be a **GGG** Riemannian manifold. For every continuous function $\varphi \in C(\partial X, \mathbb{R})$, there exists a unique continuous function $h : \overline{X} \to \mathbb{R}$ which is harmonic on X and is equal to φ on ∂X .

Moreover, for $x \in X$ there exists a measure $\sigma_x = \sigma_x^X$ on ∂X , called the harmonic measure on ∂X seen from x, such that the harmonic extension h of φ is given by

$$h(x) := \int_{\partial X} \varphi(\xi) \, d\sigma_x(\xi). \tag{2.20}$$

For x = o, the probability measure σ_o on ∂X is the one that appears in the decomposition of the constant harmonic function h = 1 in Fact 2.7.c.

For every x in X, the positive measure σ_x^X is given by the formula

$$d\sigma_x^X(\xi) = P_{\xi}(x) d\sigma_o^X(\xi)$$

so that Equation (2.20) can be rewritten as

$$h(x) := \int_{\partial X} \varphi(\xi) P_{\xi}(x) d\sigma_o^X(\xi). \tag{2.21}$$

When φ is continuous, the function h defined on X by (2.21) is harmonic and extends continuously φ . Indeed each function $\xi \mapsto P_{\xi}(x)$, for $x \in X$, is positive and satisfies $\int_{\partial X} P_{\xi}(x) d\sigma_o^X(\xi) = 1$ and, when a sequence (x_n) converges to $\xi \in \partial X$, the sequence of probability measures $(P_{\xi}(x_n)d\sigma_o^X(\xi))$ converges weakly to δ_{ξ} .

Note that, even when X is a pinched Hadamard manifold, the measure σ_o^X is not always equivalent to the "visual measure".

In order to have shorter notation, we will think of the harmonic measures σ_x^X as measures on \overline{X} supported by ∂X .

2.4.3 Upper bound for the harmonic measures

We will need the following uniform control of the harmonic measures σ_o^{Ω} for bounded subdomains of X with Lipschitz boundary. By definition, the probability measure σ_o^{Ω} is supported by the boundary $\partial\Omega$. This control tells us that, seen from o, the measure of the part of $\partial\Omega$ cut out by a half space far away from o is uniformly small.

Lemma 2.15. Let X be a **GGG** Riemannian manifold. For all $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $\ell = \ell_{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that for all o in X, x in \overline{X} , one has

$$\sigma_o^X(\overline{\mathcal{H}}_o^{\ell}(x)) \le \varepsilon, \tag{2.22}$$

and, for all bounded Lipschitz subdomain $\Omega \subset X$ containing o, one has

$$\sigma_o^{\Omega}(\mathcal{H}_o^{\ell}(x)) \le \varepsilon. \tag{2.23}$$

Proof. We first prove (2.23). We introduce the set

$$E := \mathcal{H}_o^{\ell}(x) \cap \partial \Omega,$$

where $\ell > \delta$ will be chosen later, and the open 1-neighborhood of E

$$U := \{ y \in X \mid d(y, E) < 1 \}.$$

We introduce then the reduced function $u:=R_1^U$ of the constant function 1 to this open set U. By definition, u is the smallest positive superharmonic function on X which is larger than $\mathbf{1}_U$. This function is equal to 1 on U, it is harmonic on $X \setminus \overline{U}$ and one has $0 \le u \le 1$. Since U is relatively compact this function u is a potential on X i.e. its largest harmonic minorant is 0.

The Riesz decomposition theorem tells us that every potential u on X can be written in a unique way as

$$u(x) = \int_X G(x, y) \,d\lambda(y), \qquad (2.24)$$

where λ is a positive Radon measure on X called the Riesz measure of u.

In our case where u is the reduced function $u = R_1^U$ for a relatively compact open set U, the Riesz measure λ is a finite measure supported by the boundary ∂U .

Since u is a positive superharmonic function on X which is equal to 1 on E one has, for all $z \in \Omega$,

$$\sigma_z^{\Omega}(E) \le u(z). \tag{2.25}$$

We can assume that E is not empty, and hence that $d(o, x) \ge \ell$. Let m be a point on a geodesic segment from o to x with $d(o, m) = \ell$. We claim that there exists a constant C > 0 depending only on X such that

$$u(o) \le C G(o, m) u(m). \tag{2.26}$$

Indeed, for each y in $\mathcal{H}_o^{\ell}(x)$, any geodesic segment from o to y intersects the ball $B(m, \delta)$. Applying Harnack Inequality and Ancona Inequality, one finds a constant $C_6 > 0$ depending only on X such that, for all t > 1 and all y in ∂U , one has

$$G(o, y) \le C_6 G(o, m) G(m, y).$$

Applying this inequality to each of the Green functions in the integral (2.24), one gets our claim (2.26).

Since u is bounded by 1, it follows from (2.25), (2.26) and (2.1) that

$$\sigma_o^{\Omega}(E) \le u(o) \le C_6 G(o, m) \le C_6 C_0 e^{-\varepsilon_0 \ell} \le \varepsilon$$

if $\ell = \ell_{\varepsilon}$ is chosen large enough.

We now prove (2.22) with the same ε and ℓ_{ε} as in (2.23). If (2.22) were not true, there would exist a point $x \in \overline{X}$, a small constant $\alpha > 0$ and a continuous function $\varphi : \partial X \to [0, 1 - \alpha]$ supported by an open subset of ∂X included in $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{o}^{\ell}(x)$ whose harmonic extension $h : X \to [0, 1 - \alpha]$ satisfies $h(o) > \varepsilon$. Since h is continuous, if Ω contains a sufficiently large ball B(o, R), the restriction of h to the complement $\partial \Omega \setminus \mathcal{H}_{o}^{\ell}(x)$ is bounded by $\alpha \varepsilon$. Therefore, applying formula (2.18) with $\varphi = h$ and using (2.23), we get

$$\varepsilon < h(0) \le (1-\alpha) \sigma_o^{\Omega}(\mathcal{H}_o^{\ell}(x)) + \alpha \varepsilon \le (1-\alpha) \varepsilon + \alpha \varepsilon = \varepsilon.$$

This contradiction proves that (2.22) is true.

2.4.4 Lower bound for the harmonic measure

In order to prove the doubling property of the harmonic measure on X, we will need the following uniform lower bound on the harmonic measure

Lemma 2.16. Let X be a **GGG** Riemannian manifold. For all $\ell \geq 0$, there exists $\varepsilon_{\ell} > 0$ such that such that for all o in X and $\xi \in \partial X$, one has

$$\sigma_o^X(\overline{\mathcal{H}}_o^\ell(\xi)) \ge \varepsilon_\ell.$$
 (2.27)

Proof. Let $\ell_0 > 0$ be the length given by (2.22) with $\varepsilon = 1/2$. Let m be a point on a geodesic ray $o\xi$ such that $d(o, m) = \ell + \ell_0 + \delta$, so that, by (2.5) and (2.3),

$$\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{o}^{\ell}(\xi) \supset \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{o}^{\ell+\delta}(m) \supset \overline{X} \setminus \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{m}^{\ell_{0}}(o).$$

By the Harnack inequality applied to the harmonic function $x \mapsto \sigma_x^X(\overline{\mathcal{H}}_o^{\ell}(\xi))$, there exists a constant $C_{\ell} > 0$ depending only on X and ℓ such that

$$\sigma_o^X(\overline{\mathcal{H}}_o^\ell(\xi)) \ \geq \ C_\ell^{-1}\sigma_m^X(\overline{\mathcal{H}}_o^\ell(\xi)) \ \geq \ C_\ell^{-1} \left(1-\sigma_m^X(\overline{\mathcal{H}}_m^{\ell_0}(o))\right).$$

The choice of ℓ_0 implies $\sigma_m^X(\overline{\mathcal{H}}_m^{\ell_0}(o)) \leq 1/2$. This gives (2.27) with the constant $\varepsilon_\ell = 1/(2C_\ell)$.

2.4.5 Doubling for the harmonic measure

The following Lemma 2.17 tells us that the measure σ_o^X satisfies a doubling property. See [4, Lemma 7.4] when X is a pinched Hadamard manifold.

Lemma 2.17. Let X be a **GGG** Riemannian manifold. There exists a constant $c = c_X$ such that for all o in X, $\xi \in \partial X$ and $t \geq 0$, one has

$$\sigma_o^X(\overline{\mathcal{H}}_o^t(\xi)) \le c \, \sigma_o^X(\overline{\mathcal{H}}_o^{t+1}(\xi)).$$
 (2.28)

Proof. By Lemma 2.16, we may assume that $t \geq 1$.

We first claim that there exists a constant $C_7 > 1$ such that for all o in X, all ξ in ∂X , and all x_t on a geodesic ray $o\xi$ with $d(o, x_t) = t \ge 1$, one has

$$C_7^{-1} G(o, x_t) \le \sigma_o^X(\overline{\mathcal{H}}_o^t(\xi)) \le C_7 G(o, x_t).$$
 (2.29)

In order to prove this claim, we introduce for each t>0 the harmonic function

$$z \mapsto h_t(z) := \sigma_z^X(\overline{\mathcal{H}}_o^t(\xi)) = \int_{\overline{\mathcal{H}}_o^t(\xi) \cap \partial X} P_{\eta}(z) \, d\sigma_o^X(\eta).$$

Integrating the inequalities (2.17), one finds a constant $C_4 > 1$ depending only on X such that

$$C_4^{-1}G(o, x_t)h_t(x_t) \le h_t(o) \le C_4 G(o, x_t)h_t(x_t).$$
 (2.30)

We recall from (2.7) that

$$\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{x_{t}}^{2\delta}(\xi) \subset \overline{\mathcal{H}}_{o}^{t}(\xi),$$

so that, using Lemma 2.16 with $\ell = 2\delta$, one gets a constant $\varepsilon_{2\delta} > 0$ such that

$$\varepsilon_{2\delta} \leq \sigma_{x_t}(\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{x_t}^{2\delta}(\xi)) \leq h_t(x_t) \leq 1.$$
 (2.31)

Combining (2.30) with (2.31), we obtain our claim (2.29).

Now, the Harnack inequality in Fact 2.1 provides a constant C depending only on X such that, for $t \ge 1$,

$$G(o, x_t) \le C G(o, x_{t+1}).$$
 (2.32)

The bound (2.28) follows from (2.29) and (2.32).

2.5 Non-tangential limits

According to Fatou's theorem, every bounded harmonic function on the Euclidean ball $B \subset \mathbb{R}^k$ admits a non-tangential limit at σ_0 -almost all points of the boundary sphere ∂B (see [5, Theorem 4.6.7]). This is not always true for a bounded superharmonic function u, see [35, p. 175].

Yet, according to Littlewood's theorem, every bounded superharmonic function u on B admits a radial limit at σ_0 -almost all points of ∂B , see [5, Thm. 4.6.4, Cor. 4.6.8]. One needs an extra assumption on u to ensure that this radial limit is also a non-tangential limit. This condition is the "Lipschitz continuity of u for the hyperbolic metric on the ball B".

Proposition 2.18. Let X be a **GGG** Riemannian manifold, $o \in X$ and let $\sigma = \sigma_o^X$. Let $u: X \to \mathbb{R}$ be a bounded Lipschitz superharmonic function.

- $a)\ \textit{For}\ \sigma\text{-}\textit{almost}\ \textit{all}\ \xi\in\partial X,\ \textit{the non-tangential limit}\ \psi(\xi)\text{:=}\text{N}\underset{x\to\xi}{\text{Tlim}}\ u(x)\ \textit{exists}.$
- b) If this limit $\psi(\xi)$ is σ -almost surely null, then one has $u \geq 0$.

Note that the Lipschitz continuity of u is true for all bounded harmonic functions, because of the Harnack inequality in Fact 2.1.

Proof of Proposition 2.18.: This follows from the Fatou-Naïm-Doob theorem and the Brelot-Doob trick, as they are explained by Ancona in [3].

a) It is proven in [3, Thm 1.8] that for any superharmonic function u on X which is bounded below, for σ -almost all ξ in ∂X , the minimal fine limit

$$\psi(\xi) := \operatorname{MFlim}_{x \to \xi} u(x)$$

exists. This means that the limit of u(x) when $x \to \xi$ exists as soon as x avoids a subset $E = E_{\xi}$ which is minimally thin at ξ . We recall that a subset $E \subset X$ is minimally thin if the function $P_{\xi}\mathbf{1}_{E}$ is bounded by a potential on X. And we recall that a potential is a positive superharmonic function whose largest harmonic minorant is zero. Moreover, there is a formula for this limit:

$$\psi(\xi) = \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu_h}{\mathrm{d}\sigma}(\xi)$$

where μ_h is the trace measure on ∂X of the harmonic function h in the Riesz decomposition of u as a sum u = p + h of a potential p and a harmonic function h.

It is also proven in [3, p.99-100] that for a Lipschitz continuous function u on X and a point ξ in ∂X , if the minimal fine limit $\ell := \underset{x \to \xi}{\operatorname{MFlim}} u(x)$ exists then the non-tangential limit $\underset{x \to \xi}{\operatorname{NTlim}} u(x)$ exists and is equal to ℓ .

b) Since u and hence its harmonic part h are bounded on X, the measure μ_h is absolutely continuous to σ . Hence, when the limit $\psi(\xi)$ is σ -almost surely zero, the trace measure μ_h is zero, and the harmonic function h is also 0. This tells us that u is a potential, so that one has in particular $u \geq 0$. \square

3 The boundary transform

In this third chapter, we construct the boundary transform $\beta: \mathcal{H}_b(X,Y) \longrightarrow L^{\infty}(\partial X,Y)$ and prove that it is injective.

We recall that X is a **GGG** Riemannian manifold, that Y is a complete CAT(0) space, and that $\overline{X} = X \cup \partial X$.

3.1 Harmonic maps and subharmonic functions

The following lemmas relate harmonic maps $h: X \to Y$ with Lipschitz subharmonic functions u on X. They will allow us to apply the results on superharmonic functions from Chapter 2.

We begin by a useful bound for the Lipschitz constant of a harmonic map due to Cheng.

Lemma 3.1. Let X be a Riemannian manifold with bounded geometry, and let Y be a bounded CAT(0)-space. There exists L > 0 such that for all x_0 in X, all $r \le 1$ and any harmonic map $h : B(x_0, r) \to Y$, the restriction of h to the ball $B(x_0, r/2)$ is L/r-Lipschitz.

Proof. When Y is a manifold, this is a simplified version of [13, Formula 2.9]. See also [18, Theorem 6]. When Y is a more general CAT(0) space, the extension of Cheng Lemma has been proven in [36, Theorem 1.4].

Lemma 3.2. Let X be a complete Riemannian manifold with bounded sectional curvature, and let Y be a CAT(0)-space.

a) Let $h: X \to Y$ be a bounded harmonic map and $y_0 \in Y$. Then the function $x \mapsto d(y_0, h(x))$ is a bounded Lipschitz subharmonic function on X.

b) Let $h, h': X \to Y$ be two bounded harmonic maps. Then the function $x \mapsto d(h(x), h'(x))$ is also a bounded Lipschitz subharmonic function on X.

Proof. When Y is a manifold this is in [21, Lemmas 3.8.1 and 3.8.2].

- a) We can assume that the CAT(0) space Y is bounded. Since Y is CAT(0), the function α on Y defined by $\alpha(y) := d(y_0, y)$ is convex. Therefore, by [22, Lemma 1.7.1] when Y is a manifold and [15, Lemma 10.2] in general, the function $u := \alpha \circ h$ is subharmonic on X. The Lipschitz continuity of u follows from the Cheng bound in Lemma 3.1.
- b) The proof is as in a). Indeed, the map $(h, h'): X \to Y \times Y$ is harmonic, the product space $Y \times Y$ is CAT(0), and the function $(y, y') \to d(y, y')$ is a convex function.

3.2 Construction of the boundary map

In this section, we prove Proposition 1.13.

Proof of Proposition 1.13. Remember that Y is here assumed to be proper. Fix $o \in X$ and set $\sigma = \sigma_o^X$. Let $h: X \to Y$ be a bounded harmonic map. We want to prove that, for σ -almost all $\xi \in \partial X$, the map h has a non-tangential limit $\varphi(\xi)$ at the point ξ .

Let $y \in Y$. By Lemma 3.2, the function $u_y : x \to d(y, h(x))$ is a bounded Lipschitz subharmonic function on X. Hence, by Proposition 2.18.a, there exists a subset F_y of full measure in ∂X such that the function u_y admits a non-tangential limit $\psi_y(\xi)$ at each point $\xi \in F_y$.

Let $Y_1 \subset Y$ be the closure of the convex hull of h(X) in Y. This subspace Y_1 is a bounded separable complete CAT(0) space. Let $D \subset Y_1$ be a countable dense subset of Y_1 . The intersection $F \subset \partial X$ of all the sets F_y , for y in D, still has full σ -measure. Note that, for all y, y' in Y_1 and x in X, one has

$$d(u_y(x), u_{y'}(x)) \le d(y, y').$$

Therefore, for all $\xi \in F$ and all y in Y_1 , the function u_y has a non-tangential limit at the point ξ .

We introduce the map

$$\Phi: Y_1 \to \operatorname{Lip}_1(Y_1, [0, \delta_{Y_1}])$$

$$y' \mapsto (d(y, y'))_{y \in Y_1}.$$

where δ_{Y_1} is the diameter of Y_1 and Lip_1 refers to the set of 1-Lipschitz functions endowed with the sup distance. This map Φ is an isometry onto its image $\Phi(Y_1)$ and, since Y_1 is complete, this image $\Phi(Y_1)$ is closed. Let $\xi \in F$.

Since Y is proper, the set Y_1 is compact, and what we have just seen tells us that the map $\Phi \circ h$ has a non-tangential limit at the point ξ . Therefore, the map h also has a non-tangential limit $\varphi(\xi) \in Y_1$ at the point ξ .

3.3 Injectivity of the boundary transform

In this section, we prove Proposition 1.14.

Proof. Let h and h' be two harmonic maps from X to Y whose boundary maps βh and $\beta h'$ are σ -almost surely equal. We want to prove that h = h'.

By Lemma 3.2, the function $u: x \to d(h(x), h'(x))$ is a bounded Lipschitz subharmonic function on X. By assumption the non-tangential limit NTlim u(x) is zero for σ -almost all ξ in ∂X . Therefore, by Proposition 2.18.b, the function u must be non-positive. Since u is already non-negative, we must have u=0, and hence h=h'.

4 The Poisson transform

In this fourth chapter, we construct the Poisson transform.

4.1 Density of the Lipschitz maps

We first need a lemma on the density of Lipschitz maps on a compact manifold S inside the set of bounded measurable maps. We will apply it to the boundary $S = \partial \Omega$ of a bounded Lipschitz domain Ω . Such a boundary is bi-Lipschitz homeomorphic to a compact smooth manifold.

Lemma 4.1. Let S be a compact manifold and Y be a CAT(0) space. Then, every continuous map $\varphi: S \to Y$ is a uniform limit of Lipschitz maps.

We begin by recalling the classical construction of the weighted barycenter $\beta = \beta_{\mu}(y_0, \ldots, y_n)$ of n+1 points (y_0, \ldots, y_n) in a CAT(0)-space Y. The weight μ belongs to the standard n-simplex

$$\Sigma_n := \{ \mu = (\mu_1, \dots, \mu_n) \mid \mu_i \ge 0 \text{ for all } i, \text{ and } \mu_0 + \dots + \mu_n = 1 \}.$$

We endow this simplex with the ℓ^1 -distance. This barycenter β is the unique point where the strictly convex function on Y

$$y \mapsto \psi_{\mu}(y) := \sum_{0 \le i \le n} \mu_i d(y_i, y)^2$$

achieves its minimum. As a function of the weight, this barycenter map

$$\mu \mapsto \beta_{\mu}(y_0,\ldots,y_n)$$

is L-Lipschitz continuous where L is the diameter of the finite set $\{y_0, \ldots, y_n\}$. We refer to [25, Lemma 4.2] for these properties.

Proof of Lemma 4.1. Using a triangulation of S we can assume that S is a compact CW-complex. We endow each n-simplex Σ_0 of S with the ℓ^1 -norm and we endow S with the corresponding length metric. This new metric is Lipschitz equivalent to the Riemannian metric on S. Each n-simplex Σ_0 of S can be decomposed as a union of 2^n half-size n-simplices. Iterating k times this process we obtain a decomposition of Σ_0 as a union of 2^{kn} n-simplices of level k whose size is 2^{-k} the size of Σ_0 .

Fix $\varepsilon > 0$ and $\varphi \in C(S, Y)$. There exists an integer k such that, for each simplex Σ of level k, one can uniformly bound the diameter

$$\operatorname{diam}(\varphi(\Sigma)) \le \varepsilon/2.$$

For each simplex Σ of level k, we denote by $f_{\Sigma}: \Sigma \to Y$ the barycenter map such that $f_{\Sigma}(s) = \varphi(s)$ for each vertex s of Σ . One then has

$$\operatorname{diam}(f_{\Sigma}(\Sigma)) \leq \varepsilon/2,$$

and $d(f_{\Sigma}(s), \varphi(s)) \leq \varepsilon$ holds for all s in Σ . These maps f_{Σ} are $2^k \varepsilon$ -Lipschitz continuous.

These maps f_{Σ} being compatible, each f_{Σ} is the restriction to Σ of a map $f: S \to Y$. This map f is also $2^k \varepsilon$ -Lipschitz continuous, and one has $d(f(s), \varphi(s)) \leq \varepsilon$ for all s in S.

Lemma 4.2. Let S be a compact metric space, σ be a Borel probability measure on S, and Y be a CAT(0) space. Then the set C(S,Y) of continuous maps $f: S \to Y$ is dense in the set $L^{\infty}(S,Y)$ of bounded measurable maps $\varphi: S \to Y$.

We recall that $L^{\infty}(S, Y)$ is endowed with the "topology of the convergence in probability". The distance between two maps φ , φ' in $L^{\infty}(S, Y)$ is given by

$$d(\varphi, \varphi') := \inf\{\delta \ge 0 \mid \sigma(\{\xi \in S \mid d(\varphi(\xi), \varphi'(\xi)) \ge \delta\}) \le \delta\}. \tag{4.1}$$

The space $L^{\infty}(S,Y)$ and its topology do not depend on the choice of the measure σ inside its equivalence class of measures.

Proof of Lemma 4.2. Let $\varphi: S \to Y$ be a bounded measurable map. Let $\varepsilon > 0$. By Lusin's theorem, there exists a compact subset $K \subset S$ such that the complement K^c satisfies $\sigma(K^c) \leq \varepsilon$ and such that the restriction $\varphi|_K$ is continuous. Since a CAT(0) space Y is an absolute retract metric space, see [32, Lemma 1.1], and since an absolute retract metric space is an absolute extension metric space, there exists a continuous function $f: S \to Y$ whose restriction to K is equal to $\varphi|_K$, so that $d(\varphi, f) \leq \varepsilon$.

Lusin's theorem is usually stated under the assumption that the metric target space Y is separable. Here we do not need this assumption since S is a standard Borel space endowed with a Radon measure σ . Indeed, in this case, all measurable maps $\varphi: S \to Y$ are strongly measurable. This means that φ is an almost sure limit of a sequence of measurable step functions φ_n or equivalently that there exists a conull subset $S' \subset S$ such that the image $\varphi(S')$ is separable.

4.2 The continuous Dirichlet problem

In this section we prove Proposition 1.16.

We first deal with bounded domains.

Proposition 4.3. Let Ω be a bounded Lipschitz Riemannian domain, Y a complete CAT(0) space and $\varphi : \partial \Omega \to Y$ a continuous map, then there exists a unique harmonic map $h : \Omega \to Y$ which is a continuous extension of φ .

Proof. By Lemma 4.1, we can choose a sequence $\varphi_n \in \text{Lip}(\partial\Omega, Y)$ that converges uniformly to φ . It suffices to prove that the sequence of their harmonic extensions $h_n := P\varphi_n$ given by Fact 1.15 converge uniformly. We introduce the subharmonic functions on Ω given by

$$u_{m,n}(x) := d(h_m(x), h_n(x)).$$

They extend the continuous functions on $\partial\Omega$ given by

$$\psi_{m,n}(\xi) = d(\varphi_m(\xi), \varphi_n(\xi)).$$

By the maximum principle, the supremum of $u_{m,n}$ on Ω is equal to the supremum of $\psi_{m,n}$ on $\partial\Omega$. Hence it goes to zero when $m,n\to\infty$. Therefore the sequence h_n converges uniformly to a map h which is harmonic and which extends continuously φ .

This harmonic extension is unique because if h' is another harmonic extension, the positive function

$$x \mapsto u(x) := d(h(x), h'(x))$$

is subharmonic on Ω and goes to zero near the boundary. Hence u=0 and h=h'.

We now deal with a \mathbf{GGG} Riemannian manifold X.

Proof of Proposition 1.16. We fix o in X. We can assume that the diameter δ_Y of Y is finite. Indeed we can always replace Y by a closed ball B(o,R) that contains the image of φ , since such a ball is also a complete CAT(0) space.

As we have seen in the proof of Lemma 4.2, since the compactification \overline{X} is a metrizable compact space and Y is a CAT(0) space, there exists a continuous function

$$\psi: \overline{X} \to Y$$
 such that $\psi|_{\partial X} = \varphi$.

We choose an increasing sequence of bounded Lipschitz domain $\Omega_N \subset X$ such that $o \in \Omega_0$ and Ω_N contains the 1 neighborhood of Ω_{N-1} . We denote by $h_N : \Omega_N \to Y$ the harmonic extension of the function $\psi_N := \psi|_{\partial\Omega_N}$ given by Proposition 4.3. We claim that

$$\forall \varepsilon > 0, \ \exists n_0 > 0, \ \forall N > n > n_0, \ \forall x \in \Omega_n, \ d(h_N(x), h_n(x)) \le \varepsilon.$$
 (4.2)

Since the function $x \mapsto d(h_n(x), h_N(x))$ is subharmonic, by the maximum principle it is enough to check (4.2) for x in $\partial \Omega_n$, that is:

$$\forall \varepsilon > 0, \exists n_0 > 0, \forall N > n > n_0, \ \forall x \in \partial \Omega_n, \ d(h_N(x), \psi(x)) \le \varepsilon.$$
 (4.3)

Let $\varepsilon > 0$. According to Lemma 2.15, there exists $t_0 > 0$ such that for all x in Ω_N ,

$$\sigma_x^{\Omega_N}(\mathcal{H}_x^{t_0}(o)) \le \varepsilon/(2\delta_Y). \tag{4.4}$$

By uniform continuity of ψ there exists $t_1 > 0$ such that, for all x in \overline{X} :

$$d(\psi(x), \psi(y)) \le \varepsilon/2$$
 for all y in $\mathcal{H}_o^{t_1}(x)$. (4.5)

We choose $n_0 \geq t_0 + t_1$ and let $N \geq n \geq n_0$. We fix x in $\partial \Omega_n$ and introduce the subharmonic function $z \mapsto u(z) := d(h_N(z), \psi(x))$ on Ω_N . We want to prove that $u(x) \leq \varepsilon$. We observe that

$$u(x) \leq \int_{\partial\Omega_N} u(y) \, d\sigma_x^{\Omega_N}(y). \tag{4.6}$$

Since $d(o, x) \ge n \ge t_0 + t_1$, by (2.3), one has

$$X = \mathcal{H}_x^{t_0}(o) \cup \mathcal{H}_o^{t_1}(x),$$

and we can bound this integral (4.6) by the sum I' + I'' where :

- I' is the integral on the half-space $\mathcal{H}_{x}^{t_0}(o)$, which by (4.4) has small volume,
- I'' is the integral on $\mathcal{H}_o^{t_1}(x)$ on which by (4.5) the function u is small. Hence

$$u(x) \leq \delta_Y \, \sigma_x^{\Omega_N}(\mathcal{H}_x^{t_0}(o)) + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \, \sigma_x^{\Omega_N}(\mathcal{H}_o^{t_1}(x)) \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{2} + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} = \varepsilon \,,$$

which proves our claim (4.2).

Now the claim (4.2) proves that the sequence of maps (h_N) converges uniformly to a harmonic map $h: X \to Y$ that extends continuously φ .

The proof of uniqueness is as for Proposition 4.3.

4.3 Construction of the Poisson transform

The construction uses the following classical "continuous extension theorem".

Lemma 4.4. Let E be a metric space, $D \subset E$ a dense subset and F a complete metric space. Then every uniformly continuous map $P: D \to F$ admits a unique continuous extension $P: E \to F$.

Proof of Lemma 4.4. This is classical.

Proof of Proposition 1.17. Remember that Y is assumed to be bounded. We use Lemma 4.4 with $E = L^{\infty}(\partial X, Y)$, $D = C(\partial X, Y)$ and $F = \mathcal{H}_b(X, Y)$. Note that F is a complete metric space since a uniform limit of harmonic maps is harmonic.

We want to prove that the map $P: C(\partial X, Y) \to \mathcal{H}_b(X, Y)$ given by Proposition 1.16 has a unique continuous extension to $L^{\infty}(\partial X, Y)$. By Lemmas 4.4 and 4.2, it suffices to prove that this map P is uniformly continuous. We fix a compact $K \subset X$ and a point $o \in K$, and we set

$$C_K = \sup_{\xi \in \partial X, x \in K} P_{\xi}(x) < \infty,$$

where $P_{\xi}(x)$ is the Poisson kernel.

Let $0 < \varepsilon \le 1$ and φ , φ' be two continuous maps from ∂X to Y such that $d(\varphi, \varphi') \le \varepsilon$. This means that the function ψ on ∂X defined, for ξ in ∂X , by $\psi(\xi) := d(\varphi(\xi), \varphi'(\xi))$ satisfies

$$\sigma_o(\{\xi \in \partial X \mid \psi(\xi) \ge \varepsilon\}) \le \varepsilon, \text{ where } \sigma_o = \sigma_o^X.$$
 (4.7)

Note that this function ψ is bounded by the diameter δ_Y of Y.

Let $h = P\varphi$ and $h' = P\varphi'$ be their harmonic extensions to X.

By Lemma 3.2, the continuous function u on X given, for x in X, by u(x) := d(h(x), h'(x)) is subharmonic on X. This function is a continuous extension of ψ . Therefore it satisfies, for all x in X,

$$u(x) \leq \int_{\partial X} \psi(\xi) P_{\xi}(x) d\sigma_o(\xi).$$

Plugging (4.7) in this inequality, one gets for every x in K:

$$u(x) \leq \varepsilon \int_{\partial X} P_{\xi}(x) d\sigma_{o}(\xi) + \delta_{Y} \int_{\{\psi(\xi) \geq \varepsilon\}} P_{\xi}(x) d\sigma_{o}(\xi)$$

$$\leq \varepsilon + C_{K} \delta_{Y} \varepsilon.$$

This proves, for any φ, φ' in $C(\partial X, Y)$ and any compact subset $K \subset X$, the inequality:

$$\sup_{x \in K} d(h(x), h'(x)) \le (1 + C_K \delta_Y) d(\varphi, \varphi').$$

This is the uniform continuity of the map P.

5 The boundary and the Poisson transform

In this chapter, we prove that the Poisson transform P is the inverse of the boundary transform β .

5.1 The Lebesgue density theorem

We recall here the generalized Lebesgue density theorem. See [7, Section 4.6] for a short and complete proof.

Definition 5.1. A quasi-distance on a space S is a map $d_0: S \times S \to [0, \infty[$ for which there exists b > 0

such that
$$d_0(\xi_1, \xi_3) \leq b(d_0(\xi_1, \xi_2) + d_0(\xi_2, \xi_3))$$
, $\forall \xi_1, \xi_2, \xi_3 \in S$, such that $d_0(\xi_1, \xi_2) = d_0(\xi_2, \xi_1)$ and such that $d_0(\xi_1, \xi_2) = 0 \Leftrightarrow \xi_1 = \xi_2$.

- In this case, one says that S is a quasi-metric space. Then, there exists a topology on S for which the balls $B(\xi, \varepsilon) := \{ \eta \in S \mid d_0(\xi, \eta) \leq \varepsilon \}$, with $\xi \in S$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, form a basis of neighborhood of the points ξ .
- One then has the inclusion $B(\xi, \varepsilon) \subset B(\xi, b\varepsilon)$.

Let (S, d_0) be a compact quasi-metric space and σ be a finite Borel measure on S. One says that σ is doubling if there exists C > 0 such that, for all $\xi \in S$ and r > 0, one has $\sigma(B(\xi, 2r)) \leq C \sigma(B(\xi, r))$.

Let $F \subset S$ be a measurable subset. A point $\xi \in S$ is called a density point if

 $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{\sigma(B(\xi, \varepsilon) \cap F)}{\sigma(B(\xi, \varepsilon))} = 1.$

Fact 5.2. (Lebesgue) Let (S, d_0) be a compact quasi-metric space, σ be a doubling finite Borel measure on S, and let F be a measurable subset of S. Then σ -almost every point of F is a density point.

In the next section, we will apply Fact 5.2 with $S = \partial X$ and with $\sigma = \sigma_o$. We will use the quasi-distance on ∂X defined, for two points η_1 and η_2 , by the exponential inverse of the Gromov product:

$$d_0(\eta_1, \eta_2) = e^{-(\eta_1|\eta_2)_o}. (5.1)$$

This formula defines indeed a quasi-distance on ∂X , because of (1.1). Note that one can modify this formula so that d_0 is actually a distance, see [17].

The balls for this quasi-distance in ∂X are the trace at infinity of the half-spaces of X. The doubling property for σ_o is proven in Lemma 2.17.

5.2 Limit of subharmonic functions

In this section we prove the technical lemma 5.3 that plays a crucial role in the proof of the surjectivity of the boundary transform.

We fix a point o in X. For all $\xi \in \partial X$ we define $N\xi$ as the union of the geodesic rays $o\xi$ from o to ξ . We define then the tube NF over a compact set $F \subset \partial X$ as the union

$$NF := \bigcup_{\xi \in F} N\xi \subset X. \tag{5.2}$$

Lemma 5.3. Let X be a **GGG** Riemannian manifold, and fix a point $o \in X$. Let $\psi_n : \partial X \to [0,1]$ be a sequence of continuous functions that converges σ_o -almost surely to 0. Let $u_n : X \to [0,1]$ be non-negative subharmonic functions on X that extend continuously ψ_n . Then, for all $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists a compact subset $F_{\varepsilon} \subset \partial X$ with $\sigma_o(F_{\varepsilon}^c) \leq \varepsilon$, such that the sequence (u_n) converges uniformly to 0 on the tube NF_{ε} .

The arguments of Section 4.3 tell us that the sequence (u_n) converges to 0 uniformly on the compact subsets K of X. Lemma 5.3 tells us that this convergence is still uniform on "large radial subsets of X".

Proof. First step We control the Poisson kernel on tubes. For ξ in ∂X and $m \geq 0$ we denote by

$$B_m(\xi) := B(\xi, e^{-m}) = \{ \eta \in \partial X \mid (\eta | \xi)_o \ge m \}$$

the balls for the quasidistance d_0 in (5.1), and we introduce the annuli

$$A_m(\xi) := B_m(\xi) \setminus B_{m+1}(\xi),$$

so that one has $\bigcup_{m\geq 0} A_m(\xi) = \partial X \setminus \{\xi\}.$

By Proposition 2.8, there exists $C_3 > 0$ such that, for $\xi \in \partial X$ and $m \ge 0$,

$$\frac{P_{\eta_1}(x)}{P_{\eta_2}(x)} \le C_3 \text{ holds for all } x \in N\xi \text{ and } \eta_1, \, \eta_2 \text{ in } A_m(\xi).$$
 (5.3)

Second step We apply the Lebesgue density theorem.

Let $\varepsilon > 0$. Since the sequence (ψ_n) converges σ_o -almost surely to 0, there exist an integer $n_{\varepsilon} \geq 1$ and a compact subset $K_{\varepsilon} \subset \partial X$ with $\sigma_o(K_{\varepsilon}^c) \leq \varepsilon/2$, and such that $\psi_n(\xi) \leq \varepsilon$ for all $n \geq n_{\varepsilon}$ and $\xi \in K_{\varepsilon}$.

By the Lebesgue density theorem (Fact 5.2), applied to the doubling measures $\sigma_o = \sigma_o^X$ and the family of balls $B_m(\xi)$, the sequence of functions

$$f_m(\xi) := \frac{\sigma_o(B_m(\xi) \cap K_{\varepsilon}^c)}{\sigma_o(B_m(\xi))}$$

converges to zero for σ_o -almost all $\xi \in K_{\varepsilon}$. Since the measure σ_o is doubling, the ratios $\frac{\sigma_o(B_m(\xi))}{\sigma_o(B_{m+1}(\xi))}$ are uniformly bounded, and this implies that the ra-

tios $\frac{\sigma_o(B_m(\xi))}{\sigma_o(A_m(\xi))}$ are also uniformly bounded. Hence the sequence of functions

 $g_m(\xi) := \frac{\sigma_o(A_m(\xi) \cap K_{\varepsilon}^c)}{\sigma_o(A_m(\xi))}$ also converges to zero for σ_o -almost all $\xi \in K_{\varepsilon}$.

Therefore, by Egorov theorem, there exist a compact subset $L_{\varepsilon} \subset K_{\varepsilon}$ and an integer $m_{\varepsilon} \geq 1$ such that $\sigma_o(L_{\varepsilon}^c) \leq \varepsilon$ and with

$$\sigma_o(A_m(\xi) \cap K_{\varepsilon}^c) \le \varepsilon \, \sigma_o(A_m(\xi))$$
 for all $m \ge m_{\varepsilon}$ and $\xi \in L_{\varepsilon}$. (5.4)

Third step We bound the functions u_n by using the Poisson kernel. Since each function u_n is subharmonic with boundary value ψ_n , one has

$$u_n(x) \le \int_{\partial X} \psi_n(\eta) P_{\eta}(x) d\sigma_o(\eta) \text{ for all } x \in X.$$

We now assume that x belongs to a tube $N\xi$ with $\xi \in L_{\varepsilon}$. We write

$$u_n(x) \leq \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} I_{m,n}(x,\xi) \text{ where } I_{m,n}(x,\xi) := \int_{A_m(\xi)} \psi_n(\eta) P_{\eta}(x) d\sigma_o(\eta).$$

We split this sum into two parts, according to whether $m < m_{\varepsilon}$ or $m \geq m_{\varepsilon}$. First assume that $m < m_{\varepsilon}$. The function $(x, \eta) \mapsto P_{\eta}(\xi)$ being continuous on $(\overline{X} \times \partial X) \setminus \Delta_{\partial X}$, there exists a constant $C_8 = C_8(m_{\varepsilon}) > 0$ such that one has, for all $\xi \in \partial X$:

$$P_{\eta}(x) \leq C_8$$
 for all $x \in N\xi$ and $\eta \in \partial X \setminus B_{m_{\varepsilon}}(\xi)$.

This gives the bound

$$\sum_{m < m_{\varepsilon}} I_{m,n}(x,\xi) \leq C_8 \int_{\partial X} \psi_n(\eta) \, d\sigma_o(\eta) , \qquad (5.5)$$

where the integral converges to 0 when $n \to \infty$ by the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem.

Now assume that $m \geq m_{\varepsilon}$. One splits the integral $I_{m,n}(x,\xi)$ as a sum

$$I_{m,n}(x,\xi) = I'_{m,n}(x,\xi) + I''_{m,n}(x,\xi) \text{ where}$$

$$I'_{m,n}(x,\xi) := \int_{A_m(\xi)\cap K_{\varepsilon}^c} \psi_n(\eta) P_{\eta}(x) d\sigma_o(\eta),$$

$$I''_{m,n}(x,\xi) := \int_{A_m(\xi)\cap K_{\varepsilon}} \psi_n(\eta) P_{\eta}(x) d\sigma_o(\eta).$$

Since $m \ge m_{\varepsilon}$ and $\xi \in L_{\varepsilon}$, we obtain by using (5.3) and (5.4) and the bound $\|\psi_n\|_{\infty} \le 1$:

$$I'_{m,n}(x,\xi) \leq \max_{\eta \in A_m(\xi)} P_{\eta}(x) \ \sigma_o(A_m(\xi) \cap K_{\varepsilon}^c)$$

$$\leq C_3 \min_{\eta \in A_m(\xi)} P_{\eta}(x) \ \varepsilon \ \sigma_o(A_m(\xi))$$

$$\leq \varepsilon C_3 \int_{A_m(\xi)} P_{\eta}(x) \ d\sigma_o(\eta). \tag{5.6}$$

Assume moreover that $n \geq n_{\varepsilon}$. Using the definition of K_{ε} , we obtain:

$$I''_{m,n}(x,\xi) \le \varepsilon \int_{A_m(\xi)} P_{\eta}(x) d\sigma_o(\eta).$$
 (5.7)

Combining (5.6) and (5.7) and summing over $m \geq m_{\varepsilon}$, one gets for $n \geq n_{\varepsilon}$:

$$\sum_{m>m_{\varepsilon}} I_{m,n}(x,\xi) \leq (1+C_3) \varepsilon \int_{\partial X} P_{\eta}(x) d\sigma_o(\eta) = (1+C_3) \varepsilon.$$
 (5.8)

We now define the compact F_{ε} as the intersection $F_{\varepsilon} := \cap_{\ell \geq 1} L_{\varepsilon_{\ell}}$ with $\varepsilon_{\ell} := 2^{-\ell} \varepsilon$, so that $\sigma_o(F_{\varepsilon}^c) \leq \varepsilon$. Combining (5.5) and (5.8) we observe that one has, for all x in NF_{ε} and every integers $\ell \geq 1$ and $n \geq n_{\varepsilon_{\ell}}$:

$$u_n(x) \leq C_8 \int_{\partial X} \psi_n(\eta) d\sigma_o(\eta) + (1 + C_3) \varepsilon_\ell.$$

If ℓ is large enough the second term is small. And, as we have already seen by using the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem, the first term is small if n is large enough.

This proves that the sequence (u_n) converges uniformly to 0 on NF_{ε} . \square

5.3 Surjectivity of the boundary transform

Proof of Proposition 1.18. Let $\varphi \in L^{\infty}(\partial X, Y)$. We want to prove the equality $\varphi = \beta P \varphi$. The metric space Y has been assumed to be proper so that we can use the existence of the boundary map β from Proposition 1.13. Let δ_Y be the diameter of Y.

Let (φ_n) be a sequence in $C^0(\partial X, Y)$ that converges almost surely to φ . Such a sequence also converges to φ in probability i.e. for the distance (4.1). Let $h_n = P\varphi_n$ and $h = P\varphi$. By construction, one has $\varphi_n = \beta h_n$ and the harmonic map h is the limit of the harmonic maps h_n , where the convergence is uniform on compact sets of X. This is not enough to conclude. But we will prove below that, for all $\varepsilon > 0$, this convergence is also uniform on the tube NF_{ε} over a compact set $F_{\varepsilon} \subset \partial X$ such that $\sigma_o(F_{\varepsilon}^c) \leq \varepsilon$.

Since the sequence (φ_n) converges almost surely to φ , the continuous functions $\psi_{m,n}: \partial X \to [0, \delta_Y]$ defined, for ξ in ∂X , by

$$\psi_{m,n}(\xi) = d(\varphi_m(\xi), \varphi_n(\xi))$$

converge almost surely to 0 when m, n go to ∞ .

The functions $u_{m,n}: X \to [0, \delta_Y]$ defined by

$$u_{m,n}(x) = d(h_m(x), h_n(x))$$

for x in X extend continuously the functions $\psi_{m,n}$. By Lemma 3.2, these functions $u_{m,n}$ are subharmonic on X.

Let $\varepsilon > 0$. Lemma 5.3 ensures that there exists a compact subset $F_{\varepsilon} \subset \partial X$ such that $\sigma_o(F_{\varepsilon}^c) \leq \varepsilon$, and such that the sequence $(u_{m,n})$ converges uniformly to 0 on the tube NF_{ε} . This tells us that the convergence of the sequence (h_n) to h is uniform on the tube NF_{ε} . By Egorov theorem, we may also assume that the sequence of continuous functions (φ_n) converges uniformly to φ on

 F_{ε} . Therefore the function $\overline{h}: \overline{X} \to Y$ equal to h on X and equal to φ on ∂X is continuous on $NF_{\varepsilon} \cup F_{\varepsilon}$.

This proves that, when ξ is in F_{ε} , the non-tangential limit $\mathop{\rm NTlim}_{x \to \xi} h(x)$ given by Proposition 1.13 is equal to $\varphi(\xi)$. Since the measure of F_{ε}^c is arbitrarily small, the map φ is the boundary map of h.

5.4 A concrete example

We give an example of Theorem 1.3 in a situation where X = Y is the hyperbolic plane \mathbb{H}^2 and the boundary map $\varphi : \partial \mathbb{H}^2 \to \mathbb{H}^2$ has finite image.

Corollary 5.4. Let $X := \mathbb{H}^2$ and x_1, \ldots, x_n be n points on $\partial \mathbb{H}^2$ cutting $\partial \mathbb{H}^2$ into n open arcs I_1, \ldots, I_n . Let y_1, \ldots, y_n be n points on $Y := \mathbb{H}^2$. Then there exists a unique bounded harmonic map $h : \mathbb{H}^2 \to \mathbb{H}^2$ that extends continuously to the arcs I_j with $h(I_j) = \{y_j\}$, for all j.

Proof. By Theorem 1.3 the map h has to be the Poisson transform of the map $\varphi : \partial \mathbb{H}^2 \to \mathbb{H}^2$ that sends the sides I_j to the point y_j , for all j. We only have to check that this map h extends continuously φ outside the points x_j . This is the content of Proposition 5.5.

Proposition 5.5. Let X be a **GGG** Riemannian manifold, and Y be a proper CAT(0)-space. Let $h: X \to Y$ be a bounded harmonic map and $\varphi: \partial X \to Y$ be its boundary map. Let $I \subset \partial X$ be an open set on which φ is continuous. Then, for all $\xi \in I$, one has $\varphi(\xi) := \lim_{x \to \xi} h(x)$.

Proof. The argument is as in the proof of Proposition 1.16 in Section 4.2. \Box

5.5 Bounded Lipschitz domain

A "bounded Lipschitz Riemannian domain" Ω means a connected bounded open subset of a smooth Riemannian manifold (M, g_0) such that Ω is the interior of a connected compact submanifold $\overline{\Omega}$ of M whose boundary $\partial\Omega$ is a non-empty Lipschitz continuous codimension one submanifold.

The same argument as for Theorem 1.3 will give the following corollary

Corollary 5.6. Let Ω be a bounded Lipschitz Riemannian domain, and Y be a proper CAT(0)-space.

- a) Let $h: \Omega \to Y$ be a bounded harmonic map. Then, for σ -almost all $\xi \in \partial \Omega$, the map h admits a non-tangential limit $\varphi(\xi) := \text{NTlim } h(x)$ at the point ξ .
- b) The map $h \mapsto \beta(h) := \varphi$ gives a bijection $\beta : \mathcal{H}_b(\Omega, Y) \xrightarrow{\sim} L^{\infty}(\partial \Omega, Y)$.

In this case, a non-tangential limit means a limit along all sequences x_n such that $\sup_{n\geq 1} \frac{d(x_n,\xi)}{d(x_n,\partial\Omega)} < \infty$.

The measure σ is any finite Borel measure on $\partial\Omega$ which is equivalent to any of the harmonic measures of Ω . Since Ω is a bounded Lipschitz Riemannian domain, by Dahlberg's theorem in [14], one can choose σ to be the Riemannian measure on $\partial\Omega$.

As in Section 1.4, when Y is a Riemannian manifold, Corollary 5.6.a is due to Aviles, Choi, Micallef in [6, Thm 5.1], and Theorem 5.6.b is expected to be true as a final observation in [6, Section 1]. The first cases of Corollary 5.6.b that seem to be new is when X is the Euclidean unit ball in \mathbb{R}^k and Y is the hyperbolic space \mathbb{H}^ℓ .

Proof. Corollary 5.6 is a corollary of the proof of Theorem 1.3. The strategy is the same, relying on variations of Propositions 2.8 and 2.18 for bounded Lipschitz Riemannian domains. The proofs of these variations are very similar. The only difference is that they rely on [2] instead of [3]. \Box

Remark 5.7. The fact that Corollary 5.6 is a special case of Theorem 1.3 can also be explained thanks to a trick due to Bonk, Heinonen and Koskela in [10, Chapter 8]. This trick consists in replacing the Riemannian metric g_0 on Ω by $g = \overline{d}(x)^{-2}g_0$ where \overline{d} is a suitable C^{∞} function roughly equal to the distance to the boundary, obtaining this way a **GGG** Riemannian manifold (Ω, g) . One then sees the harmonic and subharmonic functions on (Ω, g_0) as \mathcal{L} -harmonic and \mathcal{L} -subharmonic functions on X where $\mathcal{L} := \overline{d}(x)^2 \Delta_{g_0}$ is an elliptic differential operator of order 2 which is equal to the Laplacian Δ_g up to terms of order 1 and which also has spectral gap. All the arguments we developed in this paper for the Laplace operator Δ_g also apply to the operator \mathcal{L} . This trick could be applied to a much wider class of bounded Riemannian domains called "inner uniform domains". See also Aikawa in [1, Theorem 1.2] for more on these domains.

References

- [1] H. Aikawa. Potential-theoretic characterizations of nonsmooth domains. *Bull. London Math. Soc.*, 36:469–482, 2004.
- [2] A. Ancona. Principe de Harnack à la frontière et théorème de Fatou... dans un domaine lipschitzien *Ann. Inst. Fourier*, 28:169–213, 1978.

- [3] A. Ancona. Théorie du potentiel sur les graphes et les variétés. In École d'été de Probabilités de Saint-Flour, volume 1427 of L.N. in Math., pages 1–112. Springer, 1990.
- [4] M. Anderson and R. Schoen. Positive harmonic functions on complete manifolds of negative curvature. *Ann. of Math.*, 121:429–461, 1985.
- [5] D. Armitage and S. Gardiner. Classical potential theory. Springer, 2001.
- [6] P. Aviles, H. Choi, and M. Micallef. Boundary behavior of harmonic maps on nonsmooth domains... *J. Funct. Anal.*, 99:293–331, 1991.
- [7] Y. Benoist. Five lectures on lattices in semisimple Lie groups. In *Géométries...* et rigidité, volume 18 of *Sém. Congr.*, pages 117–176. SMF, 2009.
- [8] Y. Benoist and D. Hulin. Harmonic quasi-isometric maps between rank one symmetric spaces. *Ann. of Math.*, 185:895–917, 2017.
- [9] Y. Benoist and D. Hulin. Harmonic quasi-isometric maps II: negatively curved manifolds. *JEMS*, 23:2861–2911, 2021.
- [10] M. Bonk, J. Heinonen, and P. Koskela. Uniformizing Gromov hyperbolic spaces. *Astérisque*, 270, 2001.
- [11] M. Bridson and A. Haefliger. *Metric spaces of non-positive curvature*. Springer, 1999.
- [12] L. Caffarelli and S. Salsa. A geometric approach to free boundary problems, volume 68 of Graduate Studies in Math. Am. Math. Soc., 2005.
- [13] S. Cheng. Liouville theorem for harmonic maps. In *Geometry of the Laplace operator*, pages 147–151. Amer. Math. Soc., 1980.
- [14] B. Dahlberg. Estimates of harmonic measure. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 65:275–288, 1977.
- [15] J. Eells and B. Fuglede. *Harmonic maps between Riemannian polyhedra*. Cambridge Univ. Press, 2001.
- [16] J. Eells and J. Sampson. Harmonic mappings of Riemannian manifolds. Amer. J. Math., 86:109–160, 1964.
- [17] E. Ghys and P. de la Harpe. Sur les groupes hyperboliques d'après Mikhael Gromov. Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser, 1990.
- [18] M. Giaquinta and S. Hildebrandt. A priori estimates for harmonic mappings. J. Reine Angew. Math., 336:124–164, 1982.
- [19] D. Gilbarg and N. Trudinger. *Elliptic partial differential equations of second order*. Classics in Mathematics. Springer, 2001.

- [20] R. Hamilton. Harmonic maps of manifolds with boundary. L. N. in Math. 471. Springer, 1975.
- [21] J. Jost. Compact Riemann surfaces. Universitext. Springer, 1984.
- [22] J. Jost. Harmonic mappings between Riemannian manifolds. Proc. Centre Math. Analysis. Australian Nat. Univ., 1984.
- [23] J. Jost. Convex functionals and generalized harmonic maps into spaces of nonpositive curvature. *Comment. Math. Helv.*, 70:659–673, 1995.
- [24] M. Kemper and J. Lohkamp. Potential theory on Gromov hyperbolic spaces. *Anal. Geom. Metr. Spaces*, 10:394–431, 2022.
- [25] B. Kleiner. The local structure of length spaces with curvature bounded above. *Math. Z.*, 231:409–456, 1999.
- [26] P. Koosis. Introduction to H_p spaces, volume 115 of CUP. CUP, 1998.
- [27] N. Korevaar and R. Schoen. Sobolev spaces and harmonic maps for metric space targets. *Comm. Anal. Geom.*, 1:561–659, 1993.
- [28] F. Ledrappier and S. Lim. Local limit theorem in negative curvature. *Duke Math. J.*, 170:1585–1681, 2021.
- [29] M. Lemm and V. Markovic. Heat flows on hyperbolic spaces. *J. Differential Geom.*, 108:495–529, 2018.
- [30] P. Li and J. Wang. Complete manifolds with positive spectrum. II. *J. Dif*ferential Geom., 62:143–162, 2002.
- [31] V. Markovic. Harmonic maps and the Schoen conjecture. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 30:799–817, 2017.
- [32] P. Ontaneda. Cocompact CAT(0) spaces are almost geodesically complete. Topology, 44:47–62, 2005.
- [33] W. Rudin. Real and complex analysis. McGraw-Hill, 1987.
- [34] H. Sidler and S. Wenger. Harmonic quasi-isometric maps into Gromov hyperbolic CAT(0)-spaces. *J. Differential Geom.*, 118:555–572, 2021.
- [35] M. Tsuji. Potential theory in modern function theory. Chelsea, 1975.
- [36] H.-C. Zhang, X. Zhong, and X.-P. Zhu. Quantitative gradient estimates for harmonic maps into singular spaces. *Sci. China Math.*, 62:2371–2400, 2019.
- Y. Benoist: CNRS & Université Paris-Saclay yves.benoist@u-psud.fr
 D. Hulin: Université Paris-Saclay dominique.hulin@u-psud.fr